IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

No. S275835

v.

FERNANDO ROJAS,

Defendant and Appellant.

Fifth Appellant District No. F080361 Kern County Superior Court No. BF171239B Honorable John E. Lua, Judge Presiding

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SHARON G. WRUBEL State Bar No. 47877 Post Office Box 1240 Pacific Palisades, CA 90272 (310) 459-4689; Sharonlaw@verizon.net

Attorney for Appellant Fernando Rojas by Appointment of the California Supreme Court

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Appellant's petition for review was granted on the following issue:

Does Assembly Bill No. 333 (Stats. 2021, ch. 699) unconstitutionally amend Proposition 21, if applied to the gangmurder special circumstance (Pen. Code, § 190.2, subd. (a)(22))?

INTRODUCTION

In 1998, the Legislature enacted Penal Code section 186.22¹ to eradicate criminal activity by criminal street gangs. Thereafter, the Legislature amended the statute many times before 2021, when Proposition 21 was adopted by the voters to increase the punishment for gang-related crimes. Among its provisions, Proposition 21 added the gang-murder special circumstance of section

¹ Subsequent undesignated section references are to the Penal Code.

190.2, subdivision (a)(22) (190.2(a)(22)) to the list of special circumstances in 190.2, subdivision (a). The gang-murder special circumstance applies to a person who commits an intentional murder while actively participating in a "criminal street gang," as defined in section 186.22, subdivision (f) (section 186.22(f)). Proposition 21 did not state that the definition in section 186.22(f) was frozen as of any date.

In 2021, the Legislature enacted Assembly Bill No. 333 (A.B. 333), which, inter alia, amended section 186.22(f) and section 186.22, subdivision (e) (section 186.22(e)), which defines a "pattern of criminal gang activity," a requirement to establish a criminal street gang under section 186.22(f). The Legislature made these amendments because the definition of a criminal street gang had been so overly expanded as to result in the mischaracterization of unorganized racial, neighborhood and other groups as criminal street gangs.

A.B. 333 applies retroactively to section 186.22. (*People v. Tran* (2022) 13 Cal.5th 1169, 1206-1207.) As conceded by respondent and as found by the majority opinion in the case below, *People v. Rojas* (2022) 80 Cal.App.5th 542, 546 (*Rojas*), A.B. 333 requires reversal of the gang-related findings under section 186.22, subdivisions (a) and (b) and section 12022.53, subdivisions (d) and (e). The dispute is over whether applying A.B. 333's narrowed definition of a criminal street gang to section 190.2(a)(22) constitutes an unconstitutional amendment of Proposition 21.

In *Rojas*, *supra*, 80 Cal.App.5th at pp. 550-558, a divided panel of the Fifth District held that to apply A.B. 333's amended definition of a criminal street gang in section 186.22(f) to the gang-murder special circumstance would violate article II, section 10, subdivision (c) of the California Constitution. This constitutional provision restricts the Legislature from amending "an initiative statute by another statute" unless the subsequent statute is "approved by the electors," or "the initiative statute permits amendment. . . without the electors' approval." A.B. 333

was not approved by the electorate, nor was it passed by two-thirds of the membership of each house, as required by Proposition 21 for its amendment without voter approval. (See Ballot Pamp., Primary Elec. (Mar. 7, 2000), text of Prop. 21, § 39, p. 131 ("Ballot Pamphlet").) However, A.B. 333 is not unconstitutional because it does not constitute an amendment of Proposition 21 under established legal principles.

The analysis of the majority opinion in *Rojas* is flawed under law governing whether a legislative statute unconstitutionally amends an initiative statute. While the majority opinion rejects respondent's legal analysis in significant part, this brief addresses both analyses, as both are erroneous.

In contrast to the majority opinion in *Rojas*, the Second Appellate District, Division Eight, in *People v. Lee* (2022) 81 Cal.App.5th 232 (*Lee*), rev. granted Oct. 19, 2022 (S275449), reached the correct conclusion that A.B. 333 does not unconstitutionally amend Proposition 21, if A.B. 333's amended definition of a criminal street gang is applied to the gang-murder special circumstance. In addition, in *People v. Lopez* (2022) 82 Cal.App.5th 1 (*Lopez*), a different panel of the Fifth District from the panel that decided *Rojas* held in an analogous situation that A.B. 333 does not unconstitutionally amend section 182.5, the gang conspiracy statute, which was also enacted by Proposition 21 and which also incorporates section 186.22's definition of a criminal street gang. (*Id.* at pp. 14-24.)² The court in *Lopez* followed the reasoning of *Lee*.³

² The People's petition for review in *Lopez* was denied on November 9, 2022 (Case No. S276331).

³ The only other published decision on the issue is *People v. Lopez* (2021) 73 Cal.App.5th 327, 346-347, which reversed the gang-murder special circumstance finding based on A.B. 333's amended definition of a criminal street gang. However, the constitutional issue was not raised, and the opinion contains only a summary holding that A.B. 333's changes to the definition of a criminal street gang apply to the gang-murder special circumstance. (*Id.* at p. 346.)

As explained in the argument section of this brief, under all the principles of construction that govern the interpretation of an initiative, A.B. 333's amended definition of a criminal street gang, if applied to the gang-murder special circumstance, does not constitute an amendment of Proposition 21.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 18, 2019, appellant and his codefendant Victor Nunez were found guilty by jury of deliberate, premeditated murder (§ 187, subd. (a)), with true findings of the gang-murder special circumstance (§ 190.2(a)(22)), a gang enhancement (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(1)), and vicarious firearm allegations (§ 12022, subd. (d); §12022.53, subds. (d)&(e)). Appellant and Nunez were both also found guilty of active participation in a criminal street gang, Varrio Chico Lamont (VCL). (§ 186.22, subd. (a)). Nunez alone was found to have personally discharged a firearm causing death. (§ 12022.53, sub. (d)). (3 CT 676; 14 RT 1516-1520.) The trial court sentenced appellant on his murder conviction to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole, plus 25 years, and stayed his sentence for active gang participation. (3 CT 724, 726; 16 RT 1557-1558.)

Appellant appealed, raising several issues. During his appeal, the Legislature enacted A.B. 333, effective January 1, 2022, which changed the requirements under section 186.22(f) to establish a criminal street gang. (Stats. 2021, ch. 699, § 3.) Appellant filed a supplemental opening brief, arguing that A.B. 333 applied retroactively to him and required vacating all the gang-based findings in his case because the prosecution had failed to prove, as required by new subdivision (g) of section 186.22, that the murder commonly benefited VCL by more than reputational evidence. Appellant also joined in Nunez's supplemental opening brief in Nunez's separate appeal (Case No. F080359), which argued that all the gang-based findings should be reversed because the jury instructions failed to require proof of the necessary pattern of criminal gang activity under A.B. 333. In a supplemental brief, respondent conceded that A.B.

333 applied retroactively and required reversal of all the gang-based findings, except for the gang-murder special circumstance, because a reasonable jury could conclude that the common benefit of the murder was based only on reputational evidence. In light of this concession, respondent did not address appellant's arguments regarding the evidentiary deficiencies in the required pattern of criminal gang activity under A.B. 333.

On June 29, 2022, the Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment, except to reverse the gang enhancement and vicarious firearm findings on appellant's murder conviction and his conviction of active gang participation, because the prosecution had not met A.B. 333's requirement that the common benefit to the gang was more than reputational. (*Rojas, supra,* 80 Cal.App.5th at p. 546.) In the published portion of the opinion, a divided panel found that A.B. 333 unconstitutionally amended Proposition 21 as to the gang-murder special circumstance. (*Id.* at pp. 550-558.) Justice Snauffer dissented from this published holding. (*Id.* at pp. 558-561 (conc. & dis. opn. of Snauffer, J.).)

On October 19, 2022, this Court granted appellant's petition for review, limited to the issue of whether A.B. 333 unconstitutionally amends Proposition 21, if A.B. 333 is applied to the gang-murder special circumstance.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The evidence at trial is not relevant to the issue on review, which presents a pure question of law.

ARGUMENT

THE APPLICATION OF ASSEMBLY BILL No. 333'S DEFINITION OF A CRIMINAL STREET GANG TO PENAL CODE SECTION 190.2, SUBDIVISION (a)(22) DOES NOT UNCONSTITUTIONALLY AMEND PROPOSITION 21

A. Summary of Argument

A.B. 333 does not alter or refer to the language of section 190.2(a)(22). Section 190.2(a)(22) still states, as enacted by Proposition 21: "The defendant intentionally killed the victim while the defendant was an active participant in a criminal street gang, as defined in subdivision (f) of Section 186.22, and the murder was carried out to further the activities of the criminal street gang."

Because nothing in section 190.2(a)(22) or Proposition 21 states that section 186.22(f)'s definition of a criminal street gang is frozen as applied to section 190.2(a)(22), the question of whether A.B. 333, nevertheless, is an unconstitutional amendment of Proposition 21 is a matter for judicial interpretation. Respondent has conceded that Proposition 21 does not prohibit the amendment of section 186.22(f) and (e) as applied to section 186.22's gang enhancement provisions or the crime of active gang participation in section 186.22, subdivision (a).

For the following reasons and based on all the pertinent legal principles, A.B. 333 does not unconstitutionally amend Proposition 21, if A.B. 333's amendment of section 186.22(f) is applied to section 190.2(a)(22).

First, contrary to the majority opinion in *Rojas, supra*, 80 Cal.App.5th at pp. 554-555, A.B No. 333 does not "take away" from Proposition 21's enactment of section 190.2(a)(22). The punishment of death or life imprisonment without the possibility of parole for a gang-murder special circumstance, as mandated by Proposition 21, remains after A.B. 333. The voters still have what they enacted in Proposition 21, harsh punishment for the gang-murder special circumstance. (See

Argument D.1., post.)

Second, as permitted by established law, A.B. 333 legislates on a subject related to, but distinct from, the subject of section 190.2(a)(22). The definition of a criminal street gang in section 186.22(f) is related to, but distinct from, the gangmurder special circumstance, which is a punishment statute. (See Argument D.2.)

Third, because Proposition 21 did not express that the reference to section 186.22(f) in section 190.2(a)(22) was a time-specific incorporation, the modern application of *Palermo v. Stockton Theatres, Inc.* (1948) 32 Cal.2d 53 (*Palermo*) requires determining the intent of the Proposition 21 voters. It is clear that the voters did not intend a time-specific incorporation of section 186.22(f), because they froze other definitions in Proposition 21, but they chose not to do so with respect to section 190.2(a)(22)'s reference to section 186.22(f). The Ballot Pamphlet accompanying Proposition 21 also shows that the voters would have believed that future amendments to section 186.22(f), which had occurred often in the past, would continue and apply to statutes covering criminal street gangs, including section 190.2(a)(22). (See Argument E.)

Fourth, A.B. 333's amendments of the definition of a criminal street gang in section 186.22(f) are based on over 20 years of actual experience, to ensure that only members of organized criminal street gangs are punished, not just persons who are associated with unorganized neighborhood, racial, or other groups. This refinement in definition of a criminal street gang comports with the purpose of Proposition 21, which is to treat violent crimes by organized criminal street gangs harshly. (See Argument F.)

Fifth, applying different definitions of a criminal street gang to section 186.22's punishment provisions and section 190.2(a)(22) would lead to anomalous, unreasonable consequences. It would be easier to prove a criminal street gang to impose capital punishment than to prove the crime of active participation in a criminal street gang (§ 186.22, subd. (a)) or a gang enhancement

(§ 186.22, subd. (b)). In addition, so many statutes refer to section 186.22, that to find the incorporated references were frozen as of the date of each statute's enactment would be largely unworkable and would lead to difficulty in the administration of the laws covering criminal street gangs. (See Argument G.)

For these reasons, this Court should reject the holding of *Rojas*, and instead, as held in *Lee*, *supra*, 81 Cal.App.5th 232, find that applying A.B. 333's amended definition of a criminal street gang to the gang-murder special circumstance does not unconstitutionally amend Proposition 21.

B. History of Penal Code Sections 186.22 and 190.2, Subdivision (a)(22)

1. Legislative Enactment of Penal Code Section 186.22 and Amendments Before Proposition 21

"In 1988, the Legislature enacted the California Street Terrorism Enforcement and Prevention Act (STEP Act or Act; Pen. Code, § 186.20 et seq.) to eradicate 'criminal activity by street gangs.' [Citation.]" (People v. Valencia (2021) 11 Cal.5th 818, 828 (Valencia).) The STEP Act went into effect on September 26, 1988. (Id. at p. 829, fn. 9.) "Underlying the STEP Act was the Legislature's finding that 'California is in a state of crisis which has been caused by violent street gangs whose members threaten, terrorize, and commit a multitude of crimes against the peaceful citizens of their neighborhoods.' (Pen. Code, § 186.21, 2d par.)" (Valencia, supra, 11 Cal.5th at p. 828.) To combat this problem, the Legislature declared its intent "to seek the eradication of criminal activity by street gangs by focusing upon patterns of criminal gang activity and upon the organized nature of street gangs, which together, are the chief source of terror created by street gangs." (§ 186.21, 2d par.) The STEP Act created the substantive offense of active gang participation (§ 186.22, subd. (a)) and sentence enhancements for persons convicted of felonies committed for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with a criminal street gang (§ 186.22, subd. (b). (Valencia, supra, 11 Cal.5th at p. 829.) The STEP Act defined a criminal street

gang in section 186.22(f) and a pattern of criminal gang activity in section 186.22(e). (*Ibid.*)

After 1988, the Legislature made amendments to section 186.22 (f) and (e) before Proposition 21's adoption. In 1993, for example, the Legislature added crimes that constitute a pattern of criminal gang activity (commonly called predicate offenses) to section 186.22(e). (Stats. 1993, c. 611 (S.B. 60), eff. Oct. 1, 1993.) By the latter part of the 1990's, the STEP Act had "been amended almost every year, sometimes several times in a year." (*People v. Gardeley* (1996) 14 Cal.4th 605, 615, fn. 7, disapproved on other grounds in *People v. Sanchez* (2016) 63 Cal.4th 665, 686, fn. 13.)

2. Proposition 21's Enactment of Penal Code Section 190.2, Subdivision (a)(22) and Other Relevant Provisions

The gang-murder special circumstance was added to the special circumstances listed in section 190.2(a) as part of Proposition 21, the Gang Violence and Juvenile Crime Prevention Act of 1998. (Prop. 21, §§ 1, 4, eff. March 8, 2000.) "[T]he voters intended to dramatically increase the punishment for *all* gang-related crime." (*Robert L. v. Superior Court* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 894, 907 (*Robert L.*).)

The Ballot Pamphlet given to the electorate included the text of proposed Proposition 21 and uncodified findings and declarations. (See *People v. Shabazz* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 55, 65.) Proposition 21's findings and declarations included:

Criminal street gangs and gang-related violence pose a significant threat to public safety and the health of many of our communities. Criminal street gangs have become more violent, bolder, and better organized in recent years. (Ballot Pamphlet, text of Prop. 21, § 2, subd. (b), p. 119.)

Gang-related crimes pose a unique threat to the public because of gang members' organization and solidarity. Gang-related felonies should result in severe penalties. Life without the possibility of parole or death should be available for murderers who kill as part of

any gang-related activity. (Ballet Pamphlet, text of Prop. 21, § 2, subd. (h), p. 119.)

Proposition 21 contains 39 sections. Among its provisions relevant to the issue before this Court, Proposition 21 added four statutes other than section 190.2(a)(22) that refer to definitions in section 186.22. None of these statutes froze the referenced definitions. In particular, 182.5, created a new crime of gang conspiracy, which incorporated the definitions in section 186.22 (f) and (e), without freezing them as of a certain date. (Ballet Pamphlet, text of Prop. 21, § 3, p. 119.) Section 182.5 is the statute analyzed in *Lopez, supra*, 82 Cal.App.5th at pp. 14-24, where the court found that applying A.B. 333's amendments of section 186.22 to section 182.5 did not unconstitutionally amend Proposition 21.

Proposition 21, sections 14 and 16, specified "lock-in dates" for determining qualifying offenses, such as violent or serious felonies, under the Three Strikes law. (*Manduley v. Superior Court* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 537, 574-575; Ballot Pamphlet, text of Prop. 21, §§ 14, 16, pp. 123-124.)

These provisions and other relevant material in the Ballot Pamphlet are discussed *post*.

3. Assembly Bill No. 333

In 2021, the Legislature enacted A.B. 333, which amended section 186.22 and added section 1109 on bifurcation of allegations under section 186.22. (Stats. 2021, ch. 699, §§ 1-5.)⁴ The reasons for A.B. 333 are stated in the Legislature's uncodified findings and declarations. These findings and declarations include:

Current gang enhancement statutes criminalize entire neighborhoods historically impacted by poverty, racial inequality, and mass incarceration as they punish people based on their cultural identity, who they know, and where they live. (Stats. 2021, ch. 699, § 2, subd. (a).)

⁴ The amendments were effective until January 1, 2023, and were reenacted operative January 1, 2023. (Stats. 2021, c. 699 (A.B.333), § 4.)

People frequently receive gang enhancements based on the conduct of other people whom they have never even met. (Stats. 2021, ch. 699, § 2, subd. (d)(7).)

The social networks of residents in neighborhoods targeted for gang suppression are often mischaracterized as gangs despite their lack of basic organizational requirements such as leadership, meetings, hierarchical decisionmaking, and a clear distinction between members and nonmembers. (Stats. 2021, ch. 699, § 2, subd. (d)(8).)

People are also frequently automatically lumped into a gang social network simply because of their family members or their neighborhood. (Stats. 2021, ch. 699, § 2, subd. (d)(8).)

The STEP Act was originally enacted to target crimes committed by violent, organized criminal street gangs (Section 186.21 of the Penal Code). Proponents claimed the prosecution would be unable to prove an offense was committed for the benefit of, or in association with, a gang "except in the most egregious cases where a pattern of criminal gang activity was clearly shown." [Citation.] However, The STEP Act has been continuously expanded through legislative amendments and court rulings. As a result of lax standards, STEP Act enhancements are ubiquitous. (Stats. 2021, ch. 699, § 2, subd. (g).)

Because of these concerns, A.B. 333 amended section 186.22(f) and (e) in the following manner, as described in *People v. Tran, supra*, 13 Cal.5th at p. 1206:

First, it narrowed the definition of a "criminal street gang" to require that any gang be an "ongoing, organized association or group of three or more persons." (§ 186.22, subd. (f), italics added.) Second, whereas section 186.22, former subdivision (f) required only that a gang's members "individually or collectively engage in" a pattern of criminal activity in order to constitute a "criminal street gang," Assembly Bill 333 requires that any such pattern have been "collectively engage[d] in" by members of the gang. (§ 186.22, subd. (f), italics added.) Third, Assembly Bill 333 also narrowed the definition of a "pattern of criminal activity" by requiring that (1) the last offense used to show a pattern of criminal gang activity occurred within three years of the date that the currently charged offense is alleged to have been committed; (2) the offenses were committed by two or more gang "members," as opposed to just "persons"; (3) the

offenses commonly benefitted a criminal street gang; and (4) the offenses establishing a pattern of gang activity must be ones other than the currently charged offense. (§ 186.22, subd. (e)(1), (2).) Fourth, Assembly Bill 333 narrowed what it means for an offense to have commonly benefitted a street gang, requiring that any "common benefit" be "more than reputational." (§ 186.22, subd. (g).)

A.B. 333 also removed looting, felony vandalism, and specified personal identity fraud violations from the predicate offenses listed in section 186.22(e)(1). (Stats. 2021, ch. 699, § 3.)

C. Statutory Rules of Construction Apply to Interpreting Proposition 21

The same principles govern a court's interpretation of a ballot initiative as govern interpretation of a legislative statute. (*People v. Gonzalez* (2018) 6 Cal.5th 44, 49 (*Gonzalez*).) As explained in *Gonzalez*:

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