#### No. S275835

### In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

V.

FERNANDO ROJAS,

Defendant and Appellant.

Fifth Appellate District, Case No. F080361 Kern County Superior Court, Case No. BF171239B The Honorable John W. Lua, Judge

### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

#### ARGUMENT

THE CALIFORNIA CONSTITUTION BARS APPLICATION OF AB 333 TO THE GANG-MURDER SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCE, WHICH WAS ESTABLISHED BY INITIATIVE MEASURE

The gang-murder special circumstance created by Proposition 21 in section 190.2, subdivision (a)(22) defines particular conduct that will subject a person to increased punishment for first degree murder. In defining that conduct, the special circumstance specifically references and incorporates section 186.22, subdivision (f), for the definition of a criminal street gang. As a rule of statutory interpretation, such a reference to a particular code section is generally understood to reflect the enacting body's design to effect a time-specific incorporation. Moreover, other evidence of the electorate's intent in enacting Proposition 21 supports the conclusion that the voters

did not envision that the Legislature would be able to narrow the scope of the gang-murder special circumstance by amending the incorporated definition in section 186.22 without a supermajority vote. Given those circumstances, AB 333's narrowed definition of a criminal street gang would, if applied to the gang-murder special circumstance, impermissibly take away from what the voters established through Proposition 21 by reducing the scope of conduct covered by the gang-murder special circumstance. Article II, section 10, subdivision (c), therefore bars that application.

A. Proposition 21 incorporated section 186.22's definition of "criminal street gang" in its then-existing form, and therefore a narrowing of that definition would impermissibly amend the voter initiative

Because AB 333 did not pass in both houses of the Legislature with a two-thirds majority, it did not meet the vote threshold that would be required to alter the terms of Proposition 21. Thus, if application of AB 333's new, narrowed definition of a "criminal street gang" to the gang-murder special circumstance would add to or take away from Proposition 21, then the application would amount to an amendment that is prohibited by article II, section 10, subdivision (c). (See *Pearson*, *supra*, 48 Cal.4th at pp. 570-571; *Kelly*, *supra*, 47 Cal.4th at pp. 1026-1027.)

In this case, whether AB 333 adds to or takes away from Proposition 21 hinges on a matter of statutory interpretation. Proposition 21's gang-murder special circumstance incorporates the definition of a "criminal street gang" set forth separately in section 186.22, subdivision (f). Whether the electorate, in

incorporating that separate statute by reference, intended to permit future amendments to that provision by the Legislature, or whether it intended to incorporate the definition as it stood at the time Proposition 21 passed, substantially informs—and under the circumstances presented here, controls—the amendment question under article II, section 10, subdivision (c).

As a rule of statutory construction, courts interpret a specific reference to another law as reflecting the enacting body's intent to incorporate that law in its then-existing form and not as subsequently modified, unless a clear contrary intent to include subsequent modifications is expressed. (Palermo v. Stockton Theatres, Inc. (1948) 32 Cal.2d 53, 58-59; see also People v. Anderson (2002) 28 Cal.4th 767, 779; Ramish v. Hartwell (1899) 126 Cal. 443, 446 ["It is a rule of statutory construction that the adoption in one statute . . . of the provisions of another statute, by reference thereto, does not include subsequent modifications of these provisions in the statute referred to, unless a clear intent to do so is expressed"].)<sup>5</sup> On the other hand, where the reference is a general one, "such as a reference to a system or body of laws or to the general law relating to the subject in hand," then courts will interpret the reference as incorporating the law or laws referred to "not only in their contemporary form, but also as they

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Even when a specifically incorporated statute is later repealed altogether, it continues to exist through the incorporating statute in its form at the time of incorporation. (*Palermo*, *supra*, 32 Cal.2d at p. 59; *People v. McGee* (1977) 19 Cal.3d 948, 958, fn. 3; *People v. Clunie* (1886) 70 Cal. 504, 504-507; *People v. Whipple* (1874) 47 Cal. 592, 593-594.)

may be changed from time to time." (*Palermo*, at p. 59; *Anderson*, at p. 779.)

A reviewing court should be especially careful before concluding that a reference in a voter-enacted statute is a general one, because, unlike with purely legislative enactments, an incorrect construction would permit legislative alteration that is constitutionally prohibited and would interfere with "one of the most precious rights of our democratic process." (Amador Valley Joint Union High Sch. Dist., supra, 22 Cal.3d at p. 248, internal quotation marks omitted.)

1. Proposition 21's citation to section 186.22, subdivision (f) indicates that the incorporation of that statute was timespecific

As when interpreting a legislative act, courts construing a voter initiative aim to effectuate the purpose of the enactment. (Pearson, supra, 48 Cal.4th at p. 571; People v. Canty (2004) 32 Cal.4th 1266, 1276.) "We first consider the initiative's language, giving the words their ordinary meaning and construing this language in the context of the statute and initiative as a whole." (Pearson, at p. 571.) If the language is unambiguous, it is presumed that "the voters intended the meaning apparent from that language," and a court "may not add to the statute or rewrite it to conform to some assumed intent not apparent from that language." (Ibid.) If the language is ambiguous, however, a court "may consider ballot summaries and arguments in determining the voters' intent and understanding of a ballot measure." (Ibid.)

The language of Proposition 21 unambiguously reflects an intent to incorporate the definition of a criminal street gang as it

existed in section 186.22 in 2000. The gang-murder special circumstance defined in section 190.2, subdivision (a)(22), incorporates by reference and contains as an element section 186.22, subdivision (f), which itself relies on subdivision (e). These subdivisions together define a "criminal street gang" by laying out the various requirements to prove the existence of a gang. There could be no more "specific reference" to a definition of a particular term. (*Palermo*, *supra*, 32 Cal.2d at p. 58.) It is a "specific reference to the title" and subdivision of the incorporated law, section 186.22. (*San Diego County v. Milotz* (1956) 46 Cal.2d 761, 769 ["[W]hen one statute incorporates the provisions of another by specific reference to the title, the latter is incorporated as it exists and not as it is subsequently modified"]; see also *McGee*, *supra*, 19 Cal.3d at p 958, fn. 3 [same].)

First, it is instructive to review *Palermo* and the purpose of the rule it discusses. In that case, the Court considered the meaning of a statute that gave rights to foreign corporations to hold property under "any treaty *now existing*" between the United States and Japan. (*Palermo*, *supra*, 32 Cal.2d at p. 55, italics added.) The question was whether the statute should continue to be applied under the terms of that treaty after the treaty itself had been abrogated. The Court held that it should. *Palermo* restated the rule—which even then was longestablished—that specific references within a statute to another law are to the form that the incorporated law had at the time of the reference, and not as subsequently amended. (*Id.* at p. 59.) Conversely, the Court explained that where the reference is

general rather than specific, "a cognate rule" applies: "where the reference is general instead of specific, such as a reference to a system or body of laws or to the general law relating to the subject in hand, the referring statute takes the law or laws referred to not only in their contemporary form, but also as they may be changed from time to time . . . ." (*Ibid.*)

Palermo held that the statute's reference to a "now existing" treaty was a specific one, meaning corporations retained the same rights even after the treaty was abrogated. The Court reasoned that concluding otherwise would make state law subject to later changes to the treaty, which would have effectively delegated the Legislature's control over state property rights to the treaty-making authority of the United States. (Palermo, supra, 32 Cal.2d at pp. 59-60.) Because the Court had "grave doubts" about whether such an arrangement would even be constitutional, it declined to adopt that interpretation. (Ibid.) Moreover, the property statute lacked any language making its provisions "coterminous with those of the treaty," suggesting the Legislature did not intend for the statute to expire merely because the treaty was abrogated. (Id. at p. 62.)

At bottom, the purpose of the *Palermo* rule is to arrive at a statutory interpretation that is in accordance with the law's apparent purpose and the intent of the enacting body. (*People v. Kirk* (1990) 217 Cal.App.3d 1488, 1499.) The rule is designed to accomplish this goal because when the adopting statute *specifically* references the adopted statute, the effect is "the same as if the adopted statute had been set out verbatim," which

conveys the enacting body's intent that a "subsequent modification of the statute referred to did not affect the adopting statute." (*People v. Domagalski* (1989) 214 Cal.App.3d 1380, 1385.)

For example, in *Anderson*, this Court considered *Palermo* as part of its analysis of whether duress could be asserted as a defense to murder. Section 26 permits a defense of duress to any crime "unless the crime be punishable with death." (Anderson, supra, 28 Cal.4th at p. 773.) When that provision was adopted in 1872, all first degree murder was punishable by death, but the law of murder was subsequently changed to restrict the death penalty only to special-circumstance murder. (*Ibid.*) Responding to an argument that section 26's reference to crimes punishable with death was a general reference that would incorporate subsequent changes to that category of offenses, the Court stated that "[t]he question is not so clear." (Id. at p. 779.) It explained: "Section 26 does not cite specific statutes, but the subject of crimes punishable with death is quite specific. It is, for example, far narrower than the reference that the *Palermo* court found to be *specific* for this purpose: "any treaty now existing between the government of the United States and the nation or country of which such alien is a citizen or subject."" (Ibid.) The Court went on to conclude that, in any event, evidence of legislative intent showed that the Legislature intended to prohibit the duress defense for crimes that were punishable by death at the time section 26 was enacted, even if later amendments eliminated the death penalty for those offenses. (Ibid.)

The Court of Appeal's decision in *Domagalski* is also instructive. There, the court addressed an incorporation contained in Vehicle Code section 40302, which governs post-arrest appearance and release under that code. (*Domagalski*, supra, 214 Cal.App.3d at p. 1384.) When the provision was enacted, it incorporated section 853.6, subdivisions (a) through (f), which describes particular bail and release procedures for misdemeanor offenses. (*Ibid.*) Section 853.6 was later amended, imposing new procedural requirements. (*Id.* at p. 1385.) The court held that the Vehicle Code provision incorporated section 853.6, subdivisions (a) through (f) as they existed at the time, before they were amended. (*Id.* at p. 1386.)

Summarizing the authority interpreting and applying Palermo, the Domagalski court observed that "[w]ithout exception, in each case where a statute, or some portion of it, was incorporated by reference to its section designation, the court found the reference to be specific and the effect was the same as if the adopted statute had been set out verbatim in the adopting statute, so that repeal or subsequent modification of the statute referred to did not affect the adopting statute." (Domagalski, supra, 214 Cal.App.3d at p. 1385, internal quotation marks omitted.) In contrast, "[o]nly in those cases where an entire body of law relating to a particular subject was adopted by reference did the court find the reference to be general so that subsequent amendments to the incorporated statute affected the adopting statute." (Id. at pp. 1385-1386, internal quotation marks omitted.) Thus, the court concluded, "[t]he fact that Vehicle Code

section 40307 incorporated only subdivisions (a) through (f) of Penal Code section 853.6 when at the time of the incorporation Penal Code section 853.6 consisted of subdivisions (a) through (i) is compelling evidence that the reference was specific." (*Id.* at p. 1386.) The court also went on to hold that additional evidence of legislative intent confirmed that conclusion. (*Id.* at pp. 1386-1387.)

Also apposite is *In re Oluwa* (1989) 207 Cal.App.3d 439. There, the Court of Appeal analyzed whether an inmate was subject to the custody credit calculation established by the voters through Proposition 7 or whether he was entitled to invoke more generous credit provisions later enacted by the Legislature. (*Id.* at pp. 445-446.)<sup>6</sup> Proposition 7 contained a statement that "[t]he provisions of Article 2.5 (commencing with Section 2930) of Chapter 7 of Title 1 of Part 3 of the Penal Code [article 2.5] shall apply" in calculating custody credit for sentences like the inmate's in *Oluwa*. (*Id.* at p. 442.) Proposition 7 did not authorize the Legislature to amend or repeal its provisions without voter approval. (*Id.* at p. 446.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Proposition 7, commonly known as the Briggs Initiative, also increased the punishment for first degree murder from a term of life imprisonment with parole eligibility after seven years to a term of 25 years to life. (Prop. 7, §§ 1-2.) It increased the punishment for second degree murder from a term of five, six, or seven years to a term of 15 years to life. (*Ibid.*) Further, it amended section 190.2 to expand the special circumstances under which a person convicted of first degree murder may be punished by death or life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. (*Id.*, §§ 5-6.)

As the *Oluwa* court described, article 2.5 contained three sections governing custody credit calculation at the time Proposition 7 was passed. (*Ibid.*) Only later did the Legislature add several new sections to that article. (*Ibid.*) The inmate claimed that the later-enacted provisions could govern his sentence on the theory that Proposition 7's "reference to the provisions of article 2.5 containing the sections evinces the intent of the electorate that sections subsequently added thereto and dealing with the same subject matter should be engrafted onto section 190." (*Id.* at p. 444.)

The court in *Oluwa* rejected that theory. It relied on the same "well established principle of statutory law" discussed in *Palermo*, that "where a statute adopts by specific reference the provisions of another statute, regulation, or ordinance, such provisions are incorporated in the form in which they exist at the time of the reference and not as subsequently modified . . . ." (Oluwa, supra, 207 Cal.App.3d at p. 445, italics in original, quoting *Palermo*, supra, 32 Cal.2d at pp. 58-59, internal quotation marks omitted.) The court also recognized the "cognate rule" that, where the electorate has made a general rather than specific reference to the law, "such as a reference to a system or body of laws or to the general law relating to the subject [in] hand the referring statute takes the law or laws referred to not only in their contemporary form, but also as they may be changed from time to time . . . ." (Oluwa, at p. 445, quoting Palermo, at p. 59, internal quotation marks omitted.)

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